# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A.	McGuire	Clerk
	Deputy	<del></del>

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SAFETY NATIONAL CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendant-Appellant.

> After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellant District, Division Eight Case No. B243773 (LASC No. LA066432)

## **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY COUNSEL
RUBEN BAEZA, JR., Assistant County Counsel
BRIAN T. CHU, Principal Deputy County Counsel
State Bar No. 161900
JOANNE NIELSEN, Principal Deputy County Counsel
State Bar No. 181698
648 Kenneth Hahn Hall of Administration
500 West Temple Street
Los Angeles, California 90012-2713

I.	ISSUE FOR REVIEW
II.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 1
III.	STANDARD OF REVIEW5
IV.	COMBINED STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 5
V.	ESTABLISHED RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION SHOW THAT SECTION 1305, SUBDIVISION (A) AND SECTION 977, SUBDIVISION (B) ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE AND DO NOT CONFLICT WITH EACH OTHER. 8
VI.	OTHER THAN THIS PARTICULAR CASE, PRIOR CASE LAW SUPPORTS THE PEOPLE'S CONSTRUCTION OF SECTION 977 AND ITS APPLICATION TO SECTION 1305
VII.	CONCLUSION

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

rage
CASES         Day v. City of Fontana (2001)
<i>In re Marriage of Harris</i> (2004)
People v. Adames ((1997)
People v. Classified Insurance Corporation (1985) 15, 16, 17, 19 164 Cal. App. 3d 341
People v. Fairmont Specialty Group (2009)
People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Insurance Company (2010) 8 49 Cal.4 <sup>th</sup> 301
People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Insurance Company (2011) 21 194 Cal.App.4 <sup>th</sup> 45
People v. International Fidelity Ins. Co. (2012)
<i>People v. Jimenez</i> (1995)
People v. National Automobile and Casualty Ins. Co (2004) 14, 15, 16 121 Cal.App.4 <sup>th</sup> 1441
People v. National Automobile and Casualty Ins. Co. (1977) 17, 18 77 Cal.App.3d Supp. 7
People v. Ranger Insurance Company (2006)
People v. Ranger Insurance Company (1999)

People v. Ranger Insurance Company (1998) 8, 11, 12, 13 66 Cal.App.4 <sup>th</sup> 1549
People v. Ranger Insurance Company (1992)
People v. Sacramento Bail Bonds (1989)
OT A THEO
<u>STATUTES</u> Civil Code §3541
Penal Code §977 passim
Penal Code §978.5
Penal Code §995
Penal Code §1305
RULES OF COURT Rule 4.112

HOA.1091317.1

iii

## I. ISSUE FOR REVIEW

Penal Code §977(b) requires a defendant charged with a felony to be personally present at certain specified hearings and at all other proceedings unless he has executed a waiver. Penal Code §1305(a)(4) requires a court to forfeit bail if, without sufficient excuse, a defendant fails to appear when "the defendant's presence in court is lawfully required." If a defendant's presence is required under §977(b), but the defendant is not present nor has he executed a waiver, is bail properly forfeited under §1305? In other words, does Penal Code §977(b) apply to bail forfeiture proceedings under §1305 when a felony defendant has not executed a waiver and is not present in court?

## II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The rules governing bail bond forfeitures are based on sections of the Penal Code. Under Penal Code §1305(a), a defendant is required to

- (1) Arraignment.
- (2) Trial.
- (3) Judgment.

HOA.1091317.1 -1-

All statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified. Section 1305(a) states:

A court shall in open court declare forfeited the undertaking of bail or the money or property deposited as bail if, without sufficient excuse, a defendant fails to appear for any of the following:

appear at certain specified court hearings and "any other occasion" before judgment is pronounced where the defendant's presence in court "is lawfully required." If he fails to appear as required, the court must order bail forfeited absent a sufficient excuse. The words "any other occasion" and "is lawfully required" expressly create a catch-all category of hearings at which a defendant must appear in order to avoid forfeiture of the bail. The question here is how these two phrases are defined and how they relate to other sections of the Penal Code. Specifically, how do those phrases relate to §977(b)(1), which has similar language that mandates a felony

However, the court shall not have jurisdiction to declare a forfeiture and the bail shall be released of all obligations under the bond if the case is dismissed or if no complaint is filed within 15 days from the date of arraignment."

"(1) In all cases in which a felony is charged, the accused shall be present at the arraignment, at the time of plea, during the preliminary hearing, during those portions of the trial when evidence is taken before the trier of fact, and at the time of the imposition of sentence. The accused shall be personally present at all other proceedings unless he or she shall, with leave of court, execute in open court, a written waiver of

ноа.1091317.1 -2-

<sup>(4)</sup> Any other occasion prior to the pronouncement of judgment if the defendant's presence in court is lawfully required.

<sup>(5)</sup> To surrender himself or herself in execution of the judgment after appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Section 977, subdivision (b) states:

defendant's appearance in court for certain specified hearings, and states the defendant "shall be personally present at all other proceedings." Thus, the question is whether §1305's "any other occasion" encompasses §977's "at all other proceedings."

Here, the Court of Appeal reversed the Superior Court's order denying the surety's motion to set aside the bail forfeiture; it held that a pretrial conference was not contemplated as a hearing at which the defendant was required to appear. The Court found that because a pre-trial conference is not included in "all other proceedings" under §977(b), the defendant's appearance was not "lawfully required" under §1305, and the order forfeiting bail was in error.

Rules of statutory construction place the highest emphasis on the statutes' own words, which are accorded their reasonable and commonsense

his or her right to be personally present, as provided by paragraph (2). If the accused agrees, the initial court appearance, arraignment, and plea may be by video, as provided by subdivision (c).

"(2) The accused may execute a written waiver of his or her right to be personally present, approved by his or her counsel, and the waiver shall be filed with the court. However, the court may specifically direct the defendant to be personally present at any particular proceeding or portion thereof. The waiver shall be substantially in the following form: [Waiver of Defendant's Personal Presence]"

construction in line with the purposes of the statutes. The objective is to harmonize the statutes so that absurd results do not follow. Here, the plain language of §977(b)(1) requires a defendant charged with a felony to appear at certain specified hearings (e.g., arraignment). Beyond the specified hearings, a defendant is required to appear in court "at all other proceedings" unless he has executed a waiver of the right to be present. The purpose of §977(b) is to protect the defendant's due process rights in the criminal proceeding. (People v. Jimenez (1995) 38 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 795, 800, fn 8.) Under §1305(a) a defendant is required to appear at certain specified hearings (e.g., trial, and at any other hearing when his presence "is lawfully required"). The purpose of bail and of §1305(a) is to ensure the defendant's attendance in court and obedience to the court orders. (People v. Ranger Insurance Company (2006) 139 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1562, 1564,)

These two statutes are not mutually exclusive. In other words, to give effect to one statute does not preclude giving effect to the second.

Absent a waiver of personal appearance executed under §977(b), a defendant is required to appear "at all other proceedings." And under \$1305(a)(4), such a proceeding falls within "any other occasion" when the defendant's presence is "lawfully required." As such, a court has the authority to forfeit bail when a defendant charged with a felony who has not executed a waiver, such as the one in this case, fails to appear at a

pretrial conference. This interpretation gives effect to both statutes without sacrificing the purpose of either.

## III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Ordinarily, "an order denying a motion to vacate a bail forfeiture is normally reviewed for abuse of discretion. On the other hand, to the extent that the evidence before the reviewing court is undisputed and the dispositive issue is one of statutory construction, we apply an independent review standard." (*People v. International Fidelity Ins. Co.* (2012) 212 Cal.App.4th 1556, 1561 (internal citations omitted).)

In this case, the issue presented is one of law requiring a determination of whether two statutes can be harmonized, giving effect to both without leading to absurd or anomalous results. The issue presented requires this Supreme Court to determine as a matter of law whether the phrase, "shall be present at all other proceedings" under §977 (b)(1) means a defendant's appearance is "lawfully required" under §1305(a)(4). Thus, independent review is appropriate.

## IV. COMBINED STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts of this case are undisputed. On November 2, 2010, Elshaddai Machabeus Bent ("Bent") was charged with two felony offenses. (Clerk's Transcript "CT" 13.) The following day, Safety National Casualty Corporation ("Safety National" or "the surety"), posted bond for Bent's release. (CT 11.) Bent appeared as required on several dates. (CT 13-15.)

HOA.1091317.1 -5-

On April 5, 2011, he appeared for a pre-trial. (CT 21.) There was a discussion about settling the case, and everyone agreed to put the case over. (CT 21.) The court inquired if Bent would waive his right to a speedy trial, and Bent agreed. (CT 21.) The court ordered that bail would stand, and there was a discussion about the next court date. (CT 21-22.) The court suggested the 29<sup>th</sup> of April, and counsel agreed. The court said "Okay. The 29<sup>th</sup> of April. Friday, April 29, at 8:30 a.m." (CT 22.)

Bent did not appear on April 29, 2011. (CT 17.) His attorney did not know where he was or why he was not present. (CT 23.) The court forfeited bail and issued a bench warrant. (CT 17.) The following week, the clerk timely sent notice of the forfeiture to the bail agent and to the surety. (CT 27.)

Months later, the court granted a motion to extend the appearance period for 180 days.<sup>3</sup> (CT 18.) On January 13, 2012, during this extended period, Safety National filed a motion to vacate forfeiture and exonerate bail. (CT 4.) The motion argued that the trial court "was without

HOA.1091317.1 -6-

The docket refers to this motion as a "motion to toll time for investigator to apprehend and return to jurisdiction." (CT 17.) The docket also states that the motion was pursuant to Penal Code §1304.5, and was granted for 180 days. (CT 18.) It thus appears this was a standard motion to extend the appearance period (not a motion to toll time). The appellate court maintained this error and refers to the trial court "tolling" time to have the forfeiture vacated.

jurisdiction to forfeit bail" when Bent failed to appear for pre-trial on April 29, 2011. (CT 3.)<sup>4</sup>

The trial court heard the motion to exonerate bail on February 7, 2012. (Reporter's Transcript "RT" 1.) The issue was whether Bent had been lawfully required to appear on the date the forfeiture was declared. The trial court found that Bent's appearance had been required on April 29, 21011. It denied the surety's motion for several reasons; however, none was that Bent's appearance had been required by §977(b). (RT 2-4.) Notice of the motion's denial was not given.

On May 9, 2012, Safety National appealed the denial of its motion to vacate forfeiture and exonerate bond. On April 9, 2014, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Eight, reversed the trial court in a published opinion. The People filed a Petition for Rehearing. On May 9, 2014, the Court of Appeal denied the Petition for Rehearing and ordered modifications to its opinion.<sup>5</sup> The Court found that Bent had not been required to appear at his pre-trial conference on April 29, 2011. It held that "[n]o rule of law makes an appearance at such a conference mandatory and, absent a previous trial court order to appear at such a hearing, a defendant's failure to do so is not grounds for declaring bail forfeited." It also found

HOA.1091317.1 -7-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The clerk's transcript contains only one page of the argument portion of the motion.

The modifications were unrelated to the discussion of §977.

that §977 "has no bearing on a defendant's obligation to appear at certain trial court proceedings in order to maintain his status on bail."

The People filed a Petition for Review, and on July 23, 2014, this Court granted review.

V. ESTABLISHED RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION SHOW THAT SECTION 1305, SUBDIVISION (A) AND SECTION 977, SUBDIVISION (B) ARE NOT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE AND DO NOT CONFLICT WITH EACH OTHER

The guiding principles for bail forfeitures are settled. The forfeiture or exoneration of bail is a statutory procedure which is governed by special statutes. (*People v. International Fidelity Ins. Co.* (2012) 212 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1556, 1561; *People v. Ranger Ins. Co.* (1998) (hereinafter, *Ranger 1998*) 66 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1549, 1552.) "The law traditionally disfavors forfeitures and this disfavor extends to the forfeiture of bail." (*People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Ins. Co.* (2010) 49 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 301, 307 (citing *People v. United Bonding Ins. Co.* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 898, 906).) Section 1305, therefore, must be strictly construed in favor of the surety to avoid the harsh results of a forfeiture. (*County of Los Angeles v. Ranger Ins. Co.* (1999) 70 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 10, 16.) However, "[t]he policy disfavoring forfeiture cannot overcome the plainly intended meaning of the statute." (*People v. Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Ins. Co., supra*, 49 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 308.)

The fundamental purpose of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. (*In re Marriage of Harris* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 210, 221.)

In construing these terms, we must consider the object to be achieved and the evil to be prevented by the legislation. Words used will be given the meaning that reason and justice require, rather than a literal meaning which would lead to an unjust and absurd consequence. Courts do not blindly follow the literal meaning of every word if to do so would frustrate the legislative purpose. The provisions of section 1305 in particular must be accorded a reasonable, commonsense construction in line with their apparent purpose, in order to advance wise legislative policy and avoid absurdity.

(People v. Fairmont Specialty Group (2009) 173 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 146, 152-153 (internal citations, quotations, and punctuation omitted).)

"We begin by examining the statutory language, giving the words their usual and ordinary meaning. If there is no ambiguity, then we presume the lawmakers meant what they said, and the plain meaning of the language governs." (Day v. City of Fontana (2001) 25 Cal.4th 268, 272 (internal citations omitted).) Further, an "interpretation which gives effect is preferred to one that makes void." (Civ. Code §3541.) And "[t]o the extent that uncertainty remains in interpreting statutory language, consideration should be given to the consequences that will flow from a particular interpretation. Accordingly, [the court should] not parse each literal phrase of a statute if doing so contravenes the obvious underlying

HOA.1091317.1 -9-

intent, or leads to absurd or anomalous results." (*People v. Adames* (1997) 54 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 198, 212 (internal citations omitted).)

Here, the issue is whether the mandatory appearance requirements of §977(b) are applicable to the bail forfeiture provisions under of §1305(a). Under §1305(a), "[a] court shall in open court declare forfeited the undertaking of bail ... if, without sufficient excuse, a defendant fails to appear for any of the following: (1) Arraignment; (2) Trial; (3) Judgment; (4) Any other occasion prior to the pronouncement of judgment if the defendant's presence in court is lawfully required; (5) To surrender himself or herself in execution of the judgment after appeal." (§1305(a), emphasis added.) Thus, if the defendant's presence is lawfully required on any occasion other than arraignment, trial, judgment, or sentencing, the court has the authority to forfeit bail for the defendant's unexcused absence at the hearing.

Under §977(b)(1), in all cases in which a felony is charged, the accused shall be present at arraignment, at the time of plea, during the preliminary hearing, during those portions of the trial when evidence is taken before the trier of fact, and at the time of sentencing. Further, "[t]he accused shall be personally present *at all other proceedings* unless he or she shall, with leave of court, execute in open court, a written waiver of his or her right to be personally present." (§977(b)(1), emphasis added.) The plain wording of this statute compels a defendant, charged with a felony, to

HOA.1091317.1 -10-

be present at arraignment, time of plea, during the preliminary hearing, during trial where evidence is presented, and sentencing. And unless the defendant has signed a written waiver of the right to be present "at all other proceedings," the defendant must appear "at all other proceedings."

The People contend that §1305(a) and §977(b) are not mutually exclusive statutes. Section 977 is a general law designed to protect a felony defendant's due process right to be present at all his trial proceedings. (*Ranger 1998, supra*, 66 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1553-1554.) Further, §1305 is a special or specific statute designed to govern the procedure for bail forfeitures. (*Ibid.*) If a conflict arises between a general law and a special law, the special law controls. (*Ibid.*)

In Ranger 1998, the defendant executed a written waiver to appear under §977(b). On the date set for trial, the trial court held a master trial calendar hearing, but the defendant did not appear and no reason for his nonappearance was given. The trial court took no action on the bail bond and placed the trial on standby. Two days later, the case came up for hearing on a defense motion to continue the trial. Again, the defendant did not appear, and the trial court then ordered the bail forfeited. (Id. at 1551-1552.) The People appealed the order setting aside the forfeiture and exonerating the bond, and the Court of Appeal affirmed. It found the trial court lost jurisdiction over the bond when it failed to order it forfeited on the date of trial (i.e., the master trial calendar hearing). The appellate court

HOA.1091317.1 -11-

defined "trial" to include proceedings from the time when the parties are called to try their cases in court. Under §977, the defendant was expressly required to appear at trial when evidence was taken, but not otherwise since he had a waiver in place. Because the defendant was not compelled to appear at the trial under §977, but otherwise compelled to appear at trial under §1305, the Court of Appeal found a conflict between the two statutes. As a special statute, the provisions of §1305 controlled over those of §977. The trial court, therefore, lost jurisdiction over the bail bond when it failed to order it forfeited at the master trial calendar hearing. (*Id.*, at 1552-1553.)

The People do not find an inherent conflict between the two statutes, nor do the People believe that *Ranger 1998* is controlling here. First, Bent did not execute a §977 waiver. Second, the hearing on April 29, 2011, at which Bent's bail was forfeited was not: an arraignment; the time for taking a plea; a preliminary hearing; a trial date (much less a trial date on which evidence was to be taken); a judgment or sentencing hearing; or a time to surrender himself in execution of the judgment. If anything, the April 19, 2011 pretrial conference fell in to the category of "other" – all "other" proceedings or any "other" occasion. (§§977(b)(1) and 1305(a)(4).)

For bail forfeiture purposes, the question is whether the defendant was "lawfully required" to appear at this "other" occasion. Under §977(b),

HOA.1091317.1 -12-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> These are the hearings specified in either §977 or §1305, some of which overlap.

Bent was required to be personally present at this "other" proceeding because he had *not* executed a written §977 waiver. Unlike the conflicting definitions of "trial" in *Ranger 1998*, there is no conflict in how this "pretrial conference" is defined as between §977(b) and §1305(a)(4) – it is an "other" proceeding. The fact that Bent failed to appear for the pretrial conference – an "other" category of appearance – reflects that he violated both §977(b) *and* §1305. Unlike in *Ranger 1998* where the appellate court found a violation of one statute but not of the other, and thus found a conflict, Bent's failure to appear for the pretrial conference was in violation of both statutes.

Even if there is a temptation to perceive a conflict between §1305 and §977, the fact that Bent had not executed a waiver and the fact that the trial judge forfeited bail on the first date at which the court had authority to do so (*i.e.*, Bent's first unexcused non-appearance), makes *Ranger 1998* inapposite. Although the stated purpose of §977(b) is to protect the due process rights of the defendant, this does not mean §977 does not also serve the purpose of ensuring a defendant's appearance at the hearings specified in subdivision (b) (absent a waiver). Indeed, a defendant's failure to appear at an "other" proceeding without a waiver may result in the issuance of a bench warrant under §978.5. Thus, the failure to appear at a pretrial

HOA.1091317.1 -13-

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