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

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

Penal Code section 1305, subdivision (a) requires a court to declare a forfeiture of bail when the defendant fails to appear at specified hearings and (4) "...if the defendant's presence in court is lawfully required." A trial court must declare a forfeiture of bail at the defendant's first unexcused failure to appear or the court loses jurisdiction over the bond. (*People v. United Bonding Ins. Co.* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 898.) Penal Code section 977 is a general statute designed to implement a defendant's due process right to be present at criminal proceedings against him. (*People v. North Beach Bonding Co.*, (1974) 36 Cal.App.3d 663, 669.)

Penal Code section 977, subdivision (b)(1) provides that a defendant that has not executed a signed waiver "shall be personally present at all other proceedings." Nevertheless a long line of authority has held that Penal Code section 977 only requires a defendant's personal presence at fundamental hearings, necessary to protect the defendant's constitutional rights. (*People*

v. Bradford (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1229; People v. Jackson (1980) 28 Cal.3d 264; People v. Waidla (2000) 22 Cal.4th 690; People v. Clark (2011) 52 Cal.4th 856; People v. Virgil (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1210; People v. Castaneda (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1292.)

Penal Code section 1305 explicitly provides that the court must forfeit bail if the defendant fails to appear at certain specified occasions, to wit: (1) arraignment (2) trial (3) judgment and (5) to surrender himself or herself in execution of the judgment after appeal. The defendant's presence may also be required at other fundamental hearings by specific statutes or rules of court. (*See e.g.*, Penal Code section 1043, section 1043.5, Rule of Court 4.112.) These specified hearings are those hearings that are necessary for a defendant to be personally present to assure a fundamentally fair trial, consistent with the authorities cited above.

The Court may also forfeit bail if the defendant is specifically ordered to appear at a non-mandatory hearing. (*People v. Ranger Ins. Co.* (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1301, 1304; *People v. Classified Insurance Corp.* (1985) 164 Cal.App.3d 341, 344; *People v. Ranger Ins. Co.* (2005) 135 Cal.App.4 820.)

In this case the appellate court correctly held that the trial court was without jurisdiction to declare a forfeiture of bail because the defendant was not lawfully required to appear at the pretrial hearing. The general provision of Penal Code section 977, subdivision (b)(1) did not lawfully require the

defendant to appear, because that section does not require a defendant's presence, or a written waiver at a pretrial hearing.

a. The Law is Interpreted to Avoid Forfeitures

In assessing bail forfeiture questions, a reviewing court is guided by certain established principles. The law disfavors forfeitures, and bail forfeiture statutes must be strictly construed in favor of the surety in order to avoid the harsh results of a forfeiture. (*People v. Wilshire Ins. Co._*(1975) 46 Cal.App.3d 216, 220; *see also Burtnett v. King* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 805, 807; *People v. Black* (1966) 55 Cal.2d 275, 277; *People v. United Bonding Ins. Co.* (1971)5 Cal.3d 898, 904, 906; *People v. North Beach Bonding Co.* (1974) 36 Cal.App.3d 663, 673.)

The purpose of bail is to ensure the appearance of the defendant, and it is not to make money for the state nor to punish the surety or the defendant. (See People v. Wilcox (1960) 53 Cal.2d 651, 656; People v. Calvert (1954) 129 Cal.App.2d 693, 698; People v. North Beach Bonding Co. (1974) 36 Cal.App.3d 663, 675.)

Moreover, courts have recognized an obligation to construe the law so as to protect those who ultimately bear the burden of a bail forfeiture. One court said:

"In adopting a rule of strict construction the courts; concern is not so much for the bail bond companies, to whom forfeiture is an everyday risk of doing business, but for those who bear the ultimate weight of the forfeiture, family members and friends

who have pledge their homes and other financial assets to the bonding companies to secure the defendant's release." (County of Los Angeles v. American Contractors Indemnity Co._(2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 661. 666; see also County of Los Angeles v. Surety Ins. Co. (1984) 162 Cal.App.3d 58, 62; People v. Lexington National Ins. Co., (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1485, 1489.)

It is the protection of innocent parties that the law aims to procure, and the courts should incline toward a construction that avoids the forfeiture and protects those citizens.

In view of these policies, and authorities, a court should be disposed to an interpretation that avoids the forfeiture and affords the surety and innocent citizens the benefit of the law.

"Although it is often said that section 1305 must be strictly construed "in favor of the surety" (see *People v. Indiana Lumbermen's Mutual Ins. Co.* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 301, 307), the gravamen of the rule is that the forfeiture statutes are to be strictly construed to avoid forfeiture. (*People v. United Bonding Ins. Co.* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 898, 906)." (*People v. Indiana Lumberman's Insurance Company* (2011) 194 Cal.App.4th 45, 51.)

b. The Court must declare a forfeiture of bail at the defendant's first unexcused failure to appear

Under the decision of *People v. United Bonding Ins. Co.* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 898, a court must declare a forfeiture of bail on the defendant's first unexcused failure to appear. However, in several opinions the appellate courts have upheld a trial court's decision not to declare a forfeiture of bail at hearings that those courts determined that the hearings were not

mandatory. (People v. National Automobile and Casualty Ins. Co. (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 1441; People v. National Automobile and Casualty Ins. Co. (1977) 77 Cal.App.3d Supp. 7, 9 and People v. Ranger Ins. Co. (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1301, 1304.)

c. Bail Can Be Ordered Forfeited If The Court Orders The Defendant To Appear

A defendant's lawful presence in court can be established by an express or specific order that he appear at a date and time certain.

"A defendant's presence is 'lawfully required' when there is 'a specific court order commanding his appearance at a date and time certain' (*People v. Classified Ins. Corp.*, (1985) 164 Cal.App.3d 341, 344), or when a defendant has notice because he or she is present when the date and time for a mandatory appearance are set, even though the court did not specifically order his or her personal presence (*People v. American Bankers Ins. Co.*, (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 1378, 1383)." (*People v. Ranger Ins. Co.* (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1301, 1304.)

In *People v. Ranger Insurance Company* (2005) 135 Cal.App.4th 820 the Court found that a defendant's presence was lawfully required at a pretrial hearing because the trial court "expressly ordered" the defendant to appear.

"In *People v. Classified Corp.*, supra, 164 Cal.App.3d 341, the court forfeited bail when the defendant did not appear for a hearing on a section995 motion. The bond company argued defendant had not been lawfully required to appear at the hearing and the appellate court agreed. (164 Cal.App.3d. at p.347.) However, the trial court had not expressly ordered the bailee to appear for the hearing on the section 995 motion. Here, as noted above, the trial court specifically ordered defendant to appear on February

2, 2004." (*People v. Ranger* Ins. Co. (2005) 135 Cal.App.4th 820, 825.)

The Appellate court correctly held that the defendant was not expressly ordered to appear at the pretrial hearing at issue in this case.

d. Existing Case Law Provides That Penal Code 977(b)(1) Does Not Provide Authority To Forfeit Bail Pursuant To Penal Code 1305(A)(4)

The Court of Appeals correctly found that current case law has rejected the general provisions of Penal Code section 977, subdivision (b)(1) as a basis to lawfully require the defendants presence in court for the purpose of forfeiting bail. The decision cited *People v. National Automobile & Casualty Ins. Co.*, (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 1441, 1449-1450, *People v. Classified Insurance Corp.* (1985) 164 Cal.App.3d 341, 344-346, *People v. National Automobile & Cas. Ins. Co.*, (1977) 77 Cal.App.3d Supp. 7, 9 accord *People v. Ranger Ins. Co.* (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1301, 1304

The *North Beach* case held that Penal Code section 977 was implemented to protect an accused's due process rights to be present at certain stages of his prosecution, and that Penal Code section 977, subdivision (b)(1), in and of itself, did not lawfully require a defendant's presence pursuant to Penal Code section 1305. The *North Beach* Court recognized that the purposes of Penal Code section 977 were distinct from those in Penal Code section 1305 and found that Penal Code section 977 not independently require a defendant to appear in court for a motion hearing.

The *North Beach* court found that the defendant's presence was not lawfully required so that the court was not required to forfeit bail upon the defendant's failure to appear, by the general provisions of Penal Code section 977.

"Subdivision (b) of section 977 of the Penal Code provides that in felony cases a defendant must be present at certain designated stages of the proceedings and then adds: 'The accused shall be personally present at all other proceedings unless he shall, with leave of court, execute in open court, a written waiver of his right to be personally present, approved by his counsel, which waiver must then be filed with the court; . . .'

"By juxtaposition of the two foregoing principles appellant asserts that the unexcused absence of the defendant at the proceedings held at 3:30 p.m. on March 24, 1972, gave rise to an opportunity to declare the bail forfeited which, unexercised, precluded further action to forfeit the bail on the following Monday, March 27. The provisions in section 977 are designed to implement the defendant's due process right to be present at his trial and other proceedings. (See People v. Williams (1970), 10 Cal.App.3d 745, 751--752, 89 Cal.Rptr. 364.) It is absurd to contend that an attorney by appearing without his client an hour and one-half before the latter was directed to appear could place his client in default. The remedy, if the appearance of the defendant was necessary, was to refuse to entertain the motions without the presence of the defendant. The denial of the motions renders that issue moot. No order of forfeiture could have been entered at those proceedings and therefore People v. United Bonding Ins. Co., supra, is inapplicable.")People v. North Beach Bonding Company, (1974) 36 Cal. App. 3d 663, 669.)

The rule that the general provision Penal Code section 977, subdivision (b) did not require a defendant's presence for purposes of the forfeiture of bail was confirmed in *People v. Classified Insurance Corp.* (1985) 164 Cal.App.3d 341, 345-346

"Since Hernandez was charged with a felony, respondent urges this court to refer to section 977 in construing the phrase "other occasion when his presence in court is lawfully required" in section 1305. Section 977 provides in pertinent part:

"(b) In all cases in which a felony is charged, the accused must be present at the arraignment, at the time of plea, during the preliminary hearing, during those portions of the trial when evidence is taken before the trier of fact, and at the time of the imposition of sentence. The accused shall be personally present at all other proceedings unless he shall, with leave of court, execute in open court, a written waiver of his right to be personally present, approved by his counsel, which waiver must then be filed with the court; ..."

"Respondent's contention is that an accused's presence is lawfully required at all proceedings, unless a written waiver is executed by the accused and filed with the court. Respondent then reasons that since Hernandez did not execute such a waiver in this matter his presence was lawfully required at his section 995 motion. Finally, respondent concludes that since Hernandez was lawfully required to appear for his section 995 motion, his failure to do so triggered the application of section 1305 requiring forfeiture of bail.

"Respondent's construction of section 1305 by reference to section 977 is untenable. Respondent acknowledges that section 977 is designed to implement a defendant's due process rights. (People v. North Beach Bonding Co. (1974) 36 Cal.App.3d663, 111 Cal.Rptr. 757.) (People v. Classified Insurance Corp. (1985) 164 Cal.App.3d 341, 345-46.)

This analysis of *North Beach* and *Classified* was affirmed in several other cases. In *People v. National Automobile and Casualty Ins. Co.* (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 1441, the court relied on *Classified* to explain that Penal Code section 1305 only requires the defendant's presence at certain hearings and that the absence of a Penal Code section 977 waiver does not convert all non-mandatory proceedings into hearings where a defendant's presence is lawfully required under Penal Code section 1305.

"The trial court was in error in its apparent belief that the defendant's presence was required at the October 19, 2008 hearing. Under section 1305, only certain proceedings in a criminal matter require a defendant's attendance. The absence of a section 977 waiver does not convert all proceedings - specifically including a hearing on a section 995 motion to strike - into occasions which a 'defendant's presence in court is lawfully required' for purposes of section 1305. subdivision(a)(4). (See: People v. Classified Ins. Co., (1985) 164 Cal.App.3d 341, 344-347.) It is undisputed that the sole original purpose of the hearing scheduled for October 19, 2008, was to hear the defendant's demur and section 995 motion; it was not for arraignment, trial, judgment, or execution of judgment, on the occasions enumerated in section 1305 subdivision (a) when a defendant's appearance is always required." (People v. National Automobile and Casualty Ins. Co., (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 1441, 1449.)

In People v. Sacramento Bail Bonds (1984) 210 Cal.App.3d 118 and People v. American Bankers Ins. Co. (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 1378 the courts explained that a defendant was lawfully required to appear at a trial readiness conference because former rule of court 227.6 (Renumbered CRC 4.112)

required the defendant's presence. The *Sacramento* court recognized that in *Classified* no rule of law, including Penal Code section 977, required the defendant's presence and agreed that *Classified's* analysis of Penal Code section 977 was correct.

"However, the circumstances of <u>Classified Ins.</u> are materially different from those here. Thus, in that case, no rule of law required the defendant's presence at the hearing at which he was absent--a hearing on a motion pursuant to section 995. (Id. at p. 344-345.) The court of appeal correctly noted section 977 [fn omitted] did not require that defendant be present at the section 995 hearing. (Id. at p. 345.; *People v. North Beach Bonding Co.* (1974) 36 Cal.App.3d 663, 669,.)" (*People v. Sacramento Bail Bonds*, (1984) 210 Cal.App.3d 118.)

In People v. International Fidelity (2012) 212 Cal.App.4th 1556 the court held that a court could not forfeit a bond on a misdemeanor defendant when the defendant's attorney had lost contact with the defendant, but was still presumptively appearing for the defendant. In International Fidelity @ 1563-1564, the Court contrasted People v. Sacramento supra 210 Cal.App3d 118 and noted that Penal Code 977(b) required the defendant's presence if a waiver was not filed. This statement mischaracterizes the Sacramento decision, which was based its conclusion that the defendant's presence was lawfully required on a rule of court, not Penal Code section 977, subdivision (b). The International Fidelity court did not address the circumstances presented here, and did not discuss or distinguish those cases holding that

Penal Code section 977, subdivision (b)(1) cannot be the basis for lawfully requiring the defendant's presence in court.

Similarly in the case of *People v. Jimenez* (1995) 38 Cal.App.4th 795, the court relied on Penal Code section 1305(a)(5), that requires a defendant released on an appeal bond, to appear for the execution of judgment. That case noted that it did not analyze Penal Code section 977, subdivision (b) beyond the plain language of the statute. (*Id.* at fn 8.)

Therefore the Court of Appeals was correct that current case law has rejected the general provisions of Penal Code section 977, subdivision (b)(1) as the sole basis to lawfully require a defendant's presence in court for the purposes of forfeiting bail.

e. The Court Cannot Declare a Forfeiture of Bail if the Defendant's Presence is not Lawfully Required

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